Page 1 of 44

FILED 12-18-2020 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

### No. 2019AP1983-CR

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN, PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT,

v.

JACOB R. BEYER, DEFENDANT-APPELLANT.

On Appeal from the Dane County Circuit Court, The Honorable William E. Hanrahan Presiding, Case No. 2017CF2831

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT, JACOB R. BEYER

Mark A. Eisenberg State Bar Number: 01013078 Jack S. Lindberg State Bar Number: 1083046 EISENBERG LAW OFFICES, S.C. 308 E. Washington Avenue P. O. Box 1069 Madison, WI 53701-1069 (608) 256-8356 mark@eisenberglaw.org

Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant Jacob R. Beyer

#

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

(1) Does the guilty-plea-waiver rule apply to bar a defendant's appeal premised upon alleged nonjurisdictional defects when the defendant pleads not guilty to an offense but stipulates to inculpatory facts supporting each element of the offense and agrees to a finding of guilt by the trial court based upon that stipulation at an adjudicative proceeding where no witness testifies and no other evidence is presented?

The State raised this question in response to Beyer's joint appeal of the second two issues presented herein. Specifically, the State asserted that Beyer waived his right to appeal an adverse discovery decision by the trial court via his stipulation to inculpatory facts and a finding of guilt at a "stipulated court trial," which it has deemed the "functional equivalent" of a guilty plea after-the-fact. Beyer has argued that the aforementioned procedure is fundamentally distinct from a guilty plea as it required the trial court to make an independent determination of guilt based upon stipulated evidence as opposed to an affirmative admission of guilt. The Court of Appeals certified the question for review and determination, finding that no Wisconsin case has specifically addressed this issue and that there is a lack of consensus among federal and state courts which have had occasion to discuss the issue when presented with similar circumstances.

(2) Did the trial court err in denying Beyer's request for an order permitting forensic analysis of the investigative computer that allegedly detected a file containing child pornography which served as the chief premise for law enforcement's application for warrant to search Beyer's home and electronic devices?

The search warrant alleged that the State's investigative computer established a peer-to-peer ("P2P") connection with a device at Beyer's registered internet protocol ("IP") address and subsequently executed a single-source download of a single file containing child pornography from the publicly accessible "shared" contents of that device. Though that allegedly illicit file could not be recovered after the execution of a search warrant at Beyer's residence, and despite the parties' apparent agreement that its existence at the relevant place and time could likely be ascertained via forensic analysis of the investigative computer, the trial court denied Beyer's discovery motion on the grounds that Wis. Stat. § 971.23 did not entitle Beyer to discovery of this evidence as the State did not intend to use it at trial in spite of Beyer's invocation of his constitutional right to the discovery pursuant to the guarantees of due process. The Court of Appeals did not rule on this issue.

(3) Did the affidavit in support of the application for the search warrant of Beyer's home and electronic devices fail to establish probable cause by virtue of its deliberately misleading information about offenders' propensity for collecting child pornography; its failure to provide any specific corroborative information about Beyer linking him to any such category of offenders; and its failure to provide relevant information regarding the reliability of the undercover investigative software ("UIS") at issue?

The application for the search warrant in this case stated that the recovery of illicit files from Beyer's electronic devices by law enforcement could "reasonably be expected" due to the tendency of offenders to collect or retain child pornography that they have procured. However, during a motion hearing, the applicant provided testimony that indicated that this representation was inaccurate and overbroad. He suggested that the passage of time, as opposed to any widespread behavioral trend, is the crucial consideration in predicting whether a given file detected by UIS will be recovered. Furthermore, he acknowledged that, at the time of the application, he did not possess any information suggesting that Beyer was a likely "collector" other than the single file of child pornography detected by the UIS. Despite expressing some reservations in light of the applicant's testimony, the trial court found the search warrant was supported by probable cause and that suppression under the Fourth Amendment was unwarranted due to a lack of foreseeable prophylactic value with respect to future law enforcement conduct. The Court of Appeals did not rule on this issue.

### POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Beyer requests the opportunity to present oral argument in the interests of clearly and fully answering the certified question while also addressing what he believes to be important issues regarding the extent to which the investigative technologies and methodologies employed by law enforcement in the presented context are subject to meaningful constitutional scrutiny.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 28, 2017, between 9:53 a.m. and 9:55 a.m., Special Agent Lenzner of the Wisconsin Department of Justice Criminal Division, through the utilization of undercover investigative software ("UIS") on a peer-to-peer ("P2P") BitTorrent network, allegedly downloaded a single video file which he subsequently identified as child pornography from a "Suspect Device" connected to the network with IP Address 71.90.79.138. (R.40:15-25). Two days later, on October 30, 2017, Agent Lenzner submitted an administrative subpoena to Charter Communications for subscriber information for the IP address associated with the download. (R.40:15). On November 21, 2017, Charter Communications responded to the subpoena and indicated that the subscriber for that particular address was Jacob Beyer, who lived in a multi-unit apartment building located at 7237 Tempe Drive in Madison, Wisconsin. (R.40:15).

A few weeks later, on December 4, 2017, the State conducted surveillance and confirmed that Beyer was living at that residence. (R.40:16). On December 6, 2017, the State applied for a search warrant, chiefly premising the application upon the alleged acquisition of the single file of child pornography through the State's UIS (Roundup Torrential Downpour Receptor) and a description of the video content. The application also included a summary explanation of how child pornography may be tracked and/or disseminated through P2P networks, as well as a general representation that the investigatory ambit of the UIS is limited to the "shared" folders of other peers on the network which are publicly accessible for all network users. (R.40). Finally, the application stated that there was a "fair probability" of recovering the contraband digital data even after "the passage of long periods of time" because

individuals who have an interest in child pornography or child sexual exploitation tend to retain any images or videos they obtain that depict such activity...so it can be reasonably expected that similar evidence...will be found in their computer(s) or other digital devices or storage media, or found in other forms in their private places. (R.40:17).

Beyond the representation that a single file of child pornography was obtained from a device traced to Beyer's IP address, the warrant application did not offer any further information to graphic Device and the start of

did not offer any further information to qualify Beyer as a "collector." Moreover, the application did not specify whether there was any indication that Beyer ever opened, viewed, or modified the illicit file in question, nor did it indicate that any other known files of child pornography could be traced to the relevant IP address.

The search warrant was ultimately granted by the Honorable John Hyland, and law enforcement executed a search of Beyer's premises on December 7, 2017. (R. 40:19; R. 2). Based on the contents recovered from Beyer's electronic devices, he was subsequently charged with ten counts of Possession of Child Pornography pursuant to Wis. Stat. 948.12(1m) in a Criminal Complaint filed on December 8, 2017. (R.2).

Beyer filed a "Demand for Additional Discovery and Inspection" on February 26, 2018, which included a request to view the State's computer and UIS that was utilized in the investigation precipitating the Complaint. (R.16). The State refused to accede to this request, and so on December 18, 2018, Beyer formally filed a "Motion to View the State's Computer and Its Undercover Software." (R.35). In his motion, Beyer indicated that his forensic computer expert, Juanluis Villegas, had been permitted to make a copy of Beyer's hard drive at the offices of the Department of Criminal Investigation on October 5, 2018. (R.35:2-3). However, in his subsequent analysis of that hard drive, Villegas had been unable to locate any file with the SHA-1 hash value corresponding with the file allegedly detected by Agent Lenzner on October 28, 2017. (R.35:2-3). Villegas also conducted a search utilizing the State's UIS infohash, as well as a search by file name, both of which also proved fruitless. (R.35:2-3). Accordingly, Beyer asked the trial court for an Order permitting his forensic expert "to look at the State's computer with the hardware and software configuration and settings it had on the dates and times the agent claims he detected the evidence of child pornography" to confirm that the file that Agent Lenzner purportedly viewed did actually exist at the relevant time and location. (R.35:3).

The State subsequently filed a 'Motion to Deny the Defense Motion to Inspect," arguing that Beyer had not articulated a proper legal basis for his request. (R.37). Beyer responded via correspondence dated January 15, 2019,

asserting both that due process required the requested disclosures and that the trial court had the authority to order the State to comply with the request under Wis. Stat. § 971.23. (R.38). Essentially, he argued that he was entitled to the discovery necessary to ascertain the validity of the allegations contained in the search warrant. (R.38). Beyer specifically invoked his right to put on a "complete" defense and contended that he had demonstrated the requisite "materiality" so as to compel the disclosures that he was requesting. (R.38).

On January 22, 2019, the trial court held a motion hearing on the discovery dispute. (R.70). The State argued that there was no statutory basis for Beyer's request on the grounds that it did not intend to introduce any evidence pertaining to the allegedly detected file at trial. (R.70: 6-13). Beyer argued otherwise, analogizing the situation to cases involving drug detection dogs, asserting that he would have a right to inspect a given dog's records in order to interrogate the reliability of a given sniff or alert. (R.70: 13-15). The trial court ultimately denied Beyer's motion, finding that Wis. Stat. § 971.23 did not require the disclosure of evidence that the State was not going to use at trial. (R.70:24-25; A:2-3). However, the trial court invited Beyer to file a suppression motion, at which juncture he would be permitted to cross-examine the law enforcement officers involved in preparing the application for the search warrant and to offer testimony through his own experts in support of a challenge to the warrant's validity. (R.70:24-25; A:2-3).

Beyer subsequently filed a "Motion to Suppress" on March 15, 2019, asserting that "(1) the search warrant lacked probable cause in and of itself; (2) the agents relying on the search warrant knew that the search warrant lacked probable cause; and (3) the agents omitted and provided misleading information concerning its undercover investigative software (UIS)." (R.41:1). More pointedly, Beyer argued that the warrant offered very little from which to conclude that he knowingly possessed child pornography, noting the lack of information specific to Beyer vis-à-vis the "collectors" of child pornography described in the application's boilerplate or any information detailing his supposed interaction with the file detected by the UIS. (R.41:3-7). In other words, Beyer contended that extrapolation of probable cause from the alleged detection of a single—presently non-existent—file was unreasonable. On balance, he argued that the respective misrepresentations and omissions were tantamount to violation of *Franks v. Delaware*, 438 U.S. 154 (1978), and that

the supporting affidavit was otherwise so substantively deficient that the "good faith" exception should not apply. (R.41:8-13). He also renewed his request to forensically analyze the State's UIS, referencing a number of studies detailing the susceptibility of file sharing networks, and specifically BitTorrent, to malware and malicious digital file manipulation. (R.41:12-13;42-57).

The trial court held a hearing on Beyer's motion on March 22, 2019. (R.71). Agent Lenzner testified that in this case, the State utilized Torrential Downpour or Torrential Downpour Receptor, a computer program designed to identify users of the BitTorrent P2P network that are "sharing info hashes containing child pornography." (R.71:13-17). He explained that an info hash could contain one file or "thousands of files" and that "It here is a database of info hashes of child pornography uploaded in the software, and it automatically detects when they're being shared on the BitTorrent network." (R.71:16-17). He stated that he received an alert about a file around October 28, 2017, and noted that the Torrential Downpour program had completed a single-source download of the file. (R.71:17-18; 22). He viewed the contents of the file, a video, and determined that it constituted child pornography. (R.71:17-18; 21-22). He then wrote an administrative subpoena for the IP address after determining that the internet service provider ("ISP") was Charter Communications/Spectrum using an ISP database. (R.71:19-20). The information provided by Charter identified Beyer as the subscriber for the relevant IP address. (R.71:19-20).

Agent Lenzner acknowledged that the file he purportedly viewed before drafting the administrative subpoena was not found on any of Beyer's electronic devices seized in the course of the execution of the search warrant. (R.71:22). When queried for an explanation, he stated

[f]rom the date of the download, I believe it was October 28<sup>th</sup>, and the date of the warrant, I believe it was in December, there was a gap there where the party could have deleted the image. I don't know what happened to the image after it was downloaded or where it went, but to the best of my knowledge, I believe it was probably deleted. (R.71:23).

The State proceeded to ask, with respect to P2P cases specifically, "how common is it for you not being able to find the image later on?" (R.71:23). Agent Lenzner replied:

[t]here's been a majority of cases where we went to do the search warrant—so, the time from we get [sic] the download to the time we do the warrant, between that timeframe, the sooner we do it, the more likelihood we're going to find that file, but if we're doing search warrants 30 days, 60 days, 90 days down the road and they happen to delete that file or do something with that file, then it's more likely we're not going to find it. (R.71:23).

The State then inquired about "the normal practice that you've found" with respect to the tendencies of viewers of child pornography to save or delete files, to which Lenzner responded:

[e]very target we deal with is different. Some people will keep that in a downloads folder. They'll download it, go back and view it later. After they view it, they will save it somewhere else. They'll delete it. Some people watch it right away and after watching, delete it. Sometimes they'll back it up on other devices to watch later. They'll categorize. Every person we deal with has a different way they categorize or do something with it after they download it. (R.71:23-24).

At that point, the trial court interjected:

[I]et me just interrupt. I thought in the affidavit for the search warrant you both attested to the fact that they don't delete these things, that they keep them, and that's why you had reason to believe that there would be this image and others on his computer. Can you explain the apparent incongruity here? (R.71:24).

Lenzner replied:

[c]orrect. So we deal with different types of offenders, or multiple different types, but the most common we deal with is we have collectors, and we have the people that are going to view right away and delete it. So we never know what kind of offender we're going to have at the time of the warrant. (R.71:24).

The trial court pressed Lenzner, stating, "[y]eah. You didn't mention that in the affidavit though. Why did you keep that out?" (R.71:25). Lenzner explained:

I mean, we put the collector portion in there because when people do download files, people back up their stuff, whether they back it up on another hard drive or whatever they do with it, and people that are going to collect it and don't want family members or people living with them to find it or whatever the circumstances will take that and move it to another location. But not every single target we deal with is a collector, but there's a high likelihood that they are. (R.71:25).

On cross-examination, Lenzner admitted that the "collector" language at paragraph 22 of the warrant application was included in every search warrant application filed in these types of investigations, even though he acknowledged that there were actually "two different types" of offenders— "collectors" and "movers or storers"—and that he "did not know [Beyer] was a collector" at the time he viewed the file purportedly downloaded from a device at Beyer's IP address. (R.71:26-27). He also stated that he did not know how the file may have come to be on Beyer's computer or whether Beyer ever actually viewed the file. (R.71:27-28).

In addition, Lenzner conceded that once he obtained a P2P user ID through the UIS, the State could conceivably utilize that information to track what that user was doing on the network and attempt to glean other incriminating, corroborative evidence from the user's shared files. (R.71:29-30). He indicated that an IP address merely pertained to the "access point" or "modem" at Beyer's residence, and that any person who had access to the internet through that access point would share that IP address so the UIS-detected activity emanating from that address could not be contemporaneously traced to a specific device. (R.71:31-32).

Ultimately, Lenzner admitted that the only ways to establish whether the file mentioned in the search warrant application existed as alleged were through his testimony or by viewing his computer system and file logs for forensic verification. (R.71:32-33). He conceded that both the UIS and Beyer's P2P client were subject to malware, though he stated that he was not aware of having experienced an "infection" or discernible malfunction on his end. (R.71:33-36).

Following Lenzner's testimony, one of Beyer's forensic experts, Nicholas Schiavo, opined that the fact of the missing file signaled that it either never existed on Beyer's computer or that it was manually deleted and overwritten, contrary to the typical behavior of viewers as described in the warrant application. (R.71:37-40). He stated that he believed it would be possible to verify that the file was present in Beyer's shared folder at the date and time in question through a forensic analysis of the State's system. (R.71:40). He also explained that a BitTorrent user could unwittingly receive and/or share illicit material by virtue of the program's dynamics: once a user requested a file and began a download, the user automatically began sharing that file even before the user conceivably has the ability to discern whether the file that was received was indeed what the user requested. (R.71:40-41). Schiavo further opined that a given IP address only identifies an internet router, and that any computer connected to the internet and P2P network via that router could have shared any given file traced to that address. (R.71:44).

Finally, Schiavo testified that uTorrent, the BitTorrent derivative that Beyer was alleged to have been using, had a documented programming flaw that "allowed it to be exploited by any user with a web browser." (R.71:45). More specifically, he stated that

[a]nybody that was aware of the exploit could go back to anybody sharing a file and see anywhere on their computer, add files, subtract files, delete files, move them around, and it would appear as if it all happened in the shared folder because the way it works is it allows the bad actor to designate anywhere on the computer as the shared folder and look around and then manipulate it. (R.71:45).

When asked by the trial court whether he could establish that the exploit had been employed or abused in Beyer's case, Schiavo explained that the missing file gave him "pause," but he could not do so definitively

[w]ithout seeing the State's computer or knowing if they used the exploit or seeing logs from the State's computer that could tell me what the contents of the shared folder were over a period of time—for instance, if they changed dramatically, that would most likely mean from second to second that they're looking at a different folder but the system is still saying that it's the shared folder. (R.71:46-48).

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