FILED
01-22-2021
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2019AP1983-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JACOB RICHARD BEYER,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON CERTIFICATION FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT IV, ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN DANE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE WILLIAM E. HANRAHAN, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

KARA LYNN JANSON Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1081358

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. The guilty-plea-waiver rule should apply to the procedure utilized in this case.

A. Standard of review

Whether the guilty-plea-waiver rule should apply to a set of circumstances presents a question of law this Court decides de novo. *See State v. Riekkoff*, 112 Wis. 2d 119, 124–28, 332 N.W.2d 744 (1983).

- B. Under the guilty-plea-waiver rule, a guilty, no contest, or *Alford* plea waives (or forfeits) the right to raise nearly all claims on appeal.
 - 1. How it works and why.

Generally, "a guilty, no contest, or *Alford* plea 'waives all nonjurisdictional defects, including constitutional claims." *State v. Kelty*, 2006 WI 101, ¶ 18, 294 Wis. 2d 62, 716 N.W.2d 886 (footnote omitted) (citation omitted). Courts call this "the

guilty-plea-waiver rule," although it is more accurately described as a rule of forfeiture. Kelty, 294 Wis. 2d 62, ¶ 18 & n.11. "Like the general rule of waiver, the guilty-plea-waiver rule is a rule of administration and does not involve the court's power to address the issues raised." *Id.*

The guilty-plea-waiver rule has its genesis in a series of Supreme Court decisions known as the "Brady trilogy." See Tollett v. Henderson, 411 U.S. 258, 262–67 (1973). In those cases, the defendants' "guilty pleas . . . were found to foreclose direct inquiry into the merits of claimed antecedent constitutional violations." Id. at 266. The rationale for the rule is that "a guilty plea represents a break in the chain of events which has preceded it in the criminal process." Id. at 267. "Once the defendant chooses to bypass the orderly procedure for litigating his constitutional claims in order to take the benefits, if any, of a plea of guilty, the State acquires a legitimate expectation of finality in the conviction thereby obtained." Lefkowitz v. Newsome, 420 U.S. 283, 289 (1975).

In addition to promoting finality, the guilty-plea-waiver rule rests on notions of relevance: "a counseled plea of guilty is an admission of factual guilt so reliable that, where voluntary and intelligent, it quite validly removes the issue of factual guilt from the case. In most cases, factual guilt is a sufficient basis for the State's imposition of punishment." Menna v. New York, 423 U.S. 61, 62 n.2 (1975). "A guilty plea, therefore, simply renders irrelevant those constitutional violations not logically inconsistent with the valid establishment of factual guilt and which do not stand in the way of conviction if factual guilt is validly established." *Id.* Therefore, "[w]hen a criminal defendant has solemnly admitted in open court that he is in fact guilty of the offense with which he is charged, he may not thereafter raise independent" claims of constitutional error that occurred before the entry of the plea. *Henderson*, 411 U.S. at 267.

Both this Court and the court of appeals have cited the above rationale for the guilty-plea-waiver rule with approval. See State v. Pohlhammer, 82 Wis. 2d 1, 3–4, 260 N.W.2d 678 (1978) (per curiam); State v. Villegas, 2018 WI App 9, ¶ 47, 380 Wis. 2d 246, 908 N.W.2d 198. As the court of appeals explained, "[t]he idea underlying the waiver rule is that a guilty plea itself constitutes both an admission that the defendant committed past acts and a consent that a judgment of conviction be entered against him without a trial." Racine Cty. v. Smith, 122 Wis. 2d 431, 437, 362 N.W.2d 439 (Ct. App. 1984) (citation omitted).

2. Limited exceptions to the rule.

There are a few limited exceptions to the guilty-pleawaiver rule. Judicially created exceptions exist for ineffective-assistance claims related to the plea, *Villegas*, 380 Wis. 2d 246, ¶ 47, and double-jeopardy multiplicity claims that can be resolved based on the appellate record, *Kelty*, 294 Wis. 2d 62, ¶¶ 19, 34. And, "[a]s a matter of state public policy, the legislature has abandoned the guilty-plea-waiver rule in one situation." *Riekkoff*, 112 Wis. 2d at 124. Wisconsin Stat. § 971.31(10) creates a "narrow exception to the rule of waiver," and "excepts only motions to suppress evidence and motions challenging the admissibility of a defendant's statement." *State v. Nelson*, 108 Wis. 2d 698, 702, 324 N.W.2d 292 (Ct. App. 1982).

Given that the Legislature has recognized a single public policy exception to the guilty-plea-waiver rule, this Court has continuously rejected attempts to evade the rule's applicability to an otherwise waived claim. *See Riekkoff*, 112 Wis. 2d at 126–28.

For example, in *Riekkoff*, this Court held that parties may not contract around the rule—regardless of judicial acquiescence or approval. *Riekkoff*, 112 Wis. 2d at 127–28.

There, the defendant pled guilty to burglary after the circuit court denied his motion to admit expert testimony at trial. *Id*. at 121. Under the plea agreement, the parties stipulated that Riekkoff preserved for appellate review the evidentiary ruling, notwithstanding the guilty-plea-waiver rule. Id. The State also agreed to waive any argument about the applicability of the guilty-plea-waiver rule on appeal. *Id*. The court accepted the defendant's plea and, according to the parties, "concluded that the right of appellate review of the order would be preserved." Id. at 122. On appeal, this Court disagreed. Citing the canon of expressio unius est exclusio alterius, this Court used the single exception in Wis. Stat. § 971.31(10) "to prove the general rule of waiver in the wake of a guilty plea." Riekkoff, 112 Wis. 2d at 126–27.

takeaway is that court-and-party-approved workarounds of the rule must fail.

C. Beyer's stipulated trial was the functional equivalent of a guilty plea.

Court should hold that defendants cannot circumvent the guilty-plea-waiver rule by utilizing the "exceedingly rare" procedure at issue in this case. (R. 72:4.)

There is no dispute that had Beyer entered a guilty, no contest, or *Alford* plea, the guilty-plea-waiver rule would have applied to his discovery claim. (R. 72:5.) Expressly to avoid that result, Beyer advanced a "very strange" procedure that is the functional equivalent of a guilty plea. (R. 72:3.) It should not be countenanced.

In exchange for a significant reduction of charges and the State's recommendation for the mandatory-minimum sentence, Beyer not only stipulated to a set of facts for use at trial. (R. 55; 72:2–3.) Rather, he agreed to have the circuit court adjudge him *guilty* based on those facts. (R. 55:2 ("Jacob

Beyer . . . agrees to have the Court find him guilty based upon the above stipulated set of facts.").)

At the so-called trial, Beyer confirmed his intention to utilize the above procedure. (R. 72:2–7.) The circuit court, in turn, went beyond discerning a valid jury trial waiver. See State v. Anderson, 2002 WI 7, ¶ 24, 249 Wis. 2d 586, 638 N.W.2d 301 (listing the requirements for a valid jury trial waiver). Like a plea colloquy, the court informed Beyer that he was waiving his rights to confrontation, to call witnesses, and to remain silent. (R. 72:5–6); see State v. Hampton, 2004 WI 107, ¶ 25, 274 Wis. 2d 379, 683 N.W.2d 14 (discussing the constitutional rights that a defendant waives by pleading guilty).

Further, much like a court inquiring into the factual basis for a plea, the court asked defense counsel whether the stipulated facts were proof, beyond a reasonable doubt, of each element of the offense. (R. 72:7); see State v. Thomas, 2000 WI 13, ¶ 19, 232 Wis. 2d 714, 605 N.W.2d 836 (noting that, to accept a plea, a judge must decide whether the facts the defendant admits constitute the crime charged). Defense counsel "agree[d] to that," leading the court to "so find." (R. 72:7); see Thomas, 232 Wis. 2d 714, \P 18 (holding that defense counsel may stipulate to a factual basis). The court continued, "I've reviewed both [the complaint and the stipulated set of facts]. I do so find. Based upon that evidence, I do find the defendant guilty." (R. 72:7.)

To summarize, in consideration for the dismissal of nine charges and the State's recommendation of the mandatoryminimum sentence, Beyer stipulated to the inculpatory facts supporting each element of the remaining offense and expressly agreed to a finding of guilt at a hearing where no witness testified. Having "waiv[ed] a trial and a defense," he simply left the court with "nothing to do but to impose

sentence and enter judgment." United States v. Cox, 464 F.2d 937, 941 (6th Cir. 1972) (citation omitted).

If it walks like a plea and talks like a plea, it should be treated like a plea. On similar facts—where the parties' "stipulation was designed to establish guilt beyond a reasonable doubt"—the Illinois Supreme Court held that the so-called stipulated bench trial "was tantamount to a guilty plea." People v. Smith, 319 N.E.2d 760, 762–64 (Ill. 1974). The determinative question in Illinois is whether the defense stipulates to the sufficiency of the evidence to convict instead of "present[ing] and preserv[ing] a defense." *People v. Horton*, 570 N.E.2d 320, 325 (Ill. 1991). Similarly, in *United States v.* Lawson, the D.C. Circuit indicated that a stipulated trial is tantamount to a guilty plea "if by stipulation or otherwise a defendant has effectively admitted his guilt and waived trial on all issues." United States v. Lawson, 682 F.2d 1012, 1015 (D.C. Cir. 1982).

By contrast, where the defendant does not concede that the stipulated facts are sufficient to establish guilt, courts have held that a stipulated trial is not the functional equivalent of a guilty plea. See United States v. Schmidt, 760 F.2d 828, 834 (7th Cir. 1985) (collecting cases). In Schmidt, the court held that the defendant's stipulation of facts for use at trial was not tantamount to a guilty plea because the district court decided the case based on the agreed facts. Id. ("The stipulations were simple narratives, and largely testimonial. They stated facts to which the government's witnesses would have testified had they been called, with no stipulation as to the truthfulness of the testimony. There were no stipulations as to intent."); accord Lawson, 682 F.2d at 1015.

Other cases that draw a distinction between a stipulation of factual guilt and the submission of a case on uncontested evidence include Adams v. Peterson, 968 F.2d

835, 836–39 (9th Cir. 1992), Witherspoon v. United States, 633 F.2d 1247, 1248–51 (6th Cir. 1980), and State v. Johnson, 705 P.2d 773, 775 (Wash. 1985).

The above cases do not address the application of the guilty-plea-waiver rule; rather, they address whether the procedures at issue triggered the need for the admonishments that must attend a guilty plea. But these cases demonstrate that Beyer had a trial in name only.

There are at least five reasons to apply the guilty-pleawaiver rule to the procedure utilized in this case.

First, the procedure undoubtedly implicates the rationale for the rule. By admitting "all of the factual and legal elements necessary to sustain a binding, final judgment of guilt and a lawful sentence," *United States v. Broce*, 488 U.S. 563, 569 (1989), Beyer made his discovery claim irrelevant, see Menna, 423 U.S. at 62 n.2. And because Beyer chose "to bypass the orderly procedure for litigating his constitutional claims in order to take the benefits . . . of a plea of guilty, the State acquires a legitimate expectation of finality in the conviction." Newsome, 420 U.S. at 289.

Second, as the court of appeals recognized, the procedure here implicates this Court's holding in *Riekkoff*. (R-App. 102, 107.) Where the guilty-plea-waiver rule would otherwise apply to waive a claim on appeal, parties cannot creatively dodge the rule to impose upon appellate courts "the obligation to abandon the general waiver rule." *Riekkoff*, 112 Wis. 2d at 124. That is because the Legislature chose a single public policy exception to the rule: motions to suppress evidence. *Id.* at 124–27. If the Legislature wanted to sanction a procedure whereby the parties and the circuit court could effectuate a workaround of the rule, it certainly could have done so. *Cf.* Fed. R. Crim. P. 11(a)(2) ("With the consent of the court and the government, a defendant may enter a

conditional plea . . . reserving in writing the right to have an appellate court review an adverse determination of a specified pretrial motion."). But because the Legislature has not so acted, this Court in *Riekkoff* shot down a procedure like that of Fed. R. Crim. P. 11(a)(2). *Riekkoff*, 112 Wis. 2d at 121–27. The same result should follow here, where the circuit court and the parties agreed to conduct a trial in name only to bypass the rule.

Third, a judicially recognized exception in this situation—admitting guilt at a court "trial" rather than a plea hearing—could effectively swallow the guilty-plea-waiver rule. If defendants could have "the best of two worlds," namely being "allowed to plead guilty to reduced charges, while reserving their right to appeal as if they had maintained their innocence through trial," why wouldn't they pursue that option? *Cox*, 464 F.2d at 944. Further, in the interest of efficiency, why wouldn't the court and prosecutor acquiesce to this procedure? *See State v. Nash*, 2020 WI 85, ¶ 53, 394 Wis. 2d 238, 951 N.W.2d 404 (Rebecca Grassl Bradley, J., concurring). Permitting this procedure ensures that "trial by jury" will continue to be "the exception rather than the rule." *Id*.

Fourth, defendants like Beyer have recourse to seek review of non-jurisdictional claims before deciding whether to enter a plea or go to trial. They can file a petition for leave to appeal the circuit court's non-final order under Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.50, as defense counsel recognized in this case, (R. 71:83–84).

Fifth, sanctioning the procedure in this case unnecessarily opens a can of worms.

Does double jeopardy attach to the proceeding at which this procedure is employed? Not according to Wis. Stat. § 972.07(1), which provides that jeopardy attaches "[i]n a trial

to the court without a jury when a witness is sworn." Defendants may argue that jeopardy attaches when the circuit court accepts the parties' stipulation, but that sounds a lot like a plea. See State v. Poveda, 166 Wis. 2d 19, 25, 479 N.W.2d 175 (Ct. App. 1991) (stating that in a plea situation, jeopardy attaches when the circuit court accepts the plea).

Further, what type of colloquy is required in this situation to ensure that the defendant understands the effects of his decision? Should it be something more than what is required for a valid jury trial waiver, but less than what is mandated for the acceptance of a plea?

Also, what are the collateral effects of this procedure? See Lee v. State Bd. of Dental Exam'rs, 29 Wis. 2d 330, 334, 139 N.W.2d 61 (1966) (stating that an express admission of guilt may be used against a defendant in a subsequent civil action).

Should sentencing courts consider the defendants' conduct here as accepting responsibility for their actions, or not?

Finally, will defendants have valid plea-withdrawal claims because their trial counsel never advised them that they could have admitted their guilt to reduced charges at a court "trial" and still preserved their non-jurisdictional claims for appeal?

These are just a few questions that come to mind. Undoubtedly, this Court will identify additional concerns. But there is no need to walk down this rocky road. There is already a procedure in place for defendants who wish to stipulate to the inculpatory facts supporting each element of the offense and expressly agree to a finding of guilt at a hearing where no witness testifies. It's called a guilty plea.

For the above reasons, this Court should hold that the guilty-plea-waiver rule applies to the procedure utilized in this case.

In arguing otherwise, Beyer claims he "simply submitted his case to the trial court for decision on the basis of stipulations of fact," analogizing the facts of this case to those of *Schmidt* and *Adams*. (Beyer's Br. 14.) Not only does his argument disregard the reality of what occurred here, it overlooks the issue that was certified in this case. The issue certified involves a defendant who "explicitly agrees to a finding of guilt at a hearing before the circuit court at which no witness testifies." (R-App. 102.)

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